69061-2

No. 69061-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

IN RE THE DETENTION OF RICHARD ALLEN RUDE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RICHARD ALLEN RUDE,

Petitioner/Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

The Honorable John Meyer

BRIEF OF PETITIONER/APPELLANT

Susan F. Wilk Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Mr. Rude's diagnoses of paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) and antisocial personality disorder and resulting commitment violated his
 Fourteenth Amendment right to due process of law.

2. The admission of prejudicial and unreliable hearsay, ostensibly to explain the basis for the State expert's opinion, but used by the State as substantive evidence of dangerousness, violated Mr. Rude's right to due process.

 The assistant attorney general committed misconduct that violated due process when she urged the jury that they could commit Mr.
 Rude based on any abnormality, not just the diagnosis relied upon by the State's expert.

4. Mr. Rude's right to a unanimous jury verdict was violated when the assistant attorney general urged the jury that they could commit based on any abnormality, not just the diagnosis relied upon by the State's expert.

B. ISSUES PERTANING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Under the due process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3, a person may only be civilly committed against his will upon proof of current mental illness and dangerousness. The Supreme Court has emphasized that this fundamental requirement

precludes the commitment of an individual unless he suffers from a mental abnormality sufficient to distinguish him from the "dangerous but typical" recividist convicted in a criminal case. The controversial diagnosis of paraphilia not otherwise specified (nonconsent) has been rejected by the American Psychiatric Association, roundly criticized within the profession, and lacks diagnostic criteria necessary to ensure the diagnosis is reliable. Did the use of the diagnosis to support Mr. Rude's commitment violate due process?

2. Principles of due process preclude the State from committing an individual simply because he suffers from a disorder that may lead to criminal conduct. A general disposition towards criminality is at the foundation of the diagnosis of anti-social personality disorder; indeed, a substantial majority of prisoners, and most male prisoners, suffer from this disorder. Did Mr. Rude's commitment on this basis violate due process?

3. Under ER 703 and ER 705, hearsay that forms the basis of an expert's opinion may only be introduced at trial if (a) the evidence is tied to a specific opinion, and (b) a limiting instruction is issued to the jury. Even where a limiting instruction is given, the United States Supreme Court recognizes that in some instances, the prejudicial impact of hearsay testimony may be too great for the jury to withstand. Did multiple instances of hearsay, introduced into evidence by the State's expert, but

not tied to specific professional opinions, violate Mr. Rude's Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial?

4. Due process protects against involuntary commitment except upon proof of mental illness and dangerousness. The terms "mental abnormality" and "personality disorder" have been found to be sufficiently precise to support commitment provided they are specifically defined for the jury. In her closing argument, the assistant attorney general in effect told the jury to ignore its obligation to find that Mr. Rude suffers from a mental illness and commit him if they found the existence of any "condition" that predisposed him to engage in acts of predatory violence. She told them that the diagnoses and DSM-IV definitions were "just a guide." Did the argument urge the jury to commit without finding Mr. Rude was mentally ill, in violation of his right to due process?

5. A respondent in SVP commitment proceedings has the right to a unanimous jury verdict on each element of the commitment statute. Where the State presented evidence of several "conditions" at trial, only one of which was claimed to predispose him to have serious difficulty in controlling his behavior, did the improper argument also deny Mr. Rude a unanimous jury verdict?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Mr. Rude's substance abuse and criminal behavior.

As an adolescent and young man, Richard Rude had a troubled relationship with his family, particular his abusive father, and a substance abuse problem. 6/13/12 20, 26; 6/20/12 RP 65.¹ In 1979, when he was still a juvenile, Mr. Rude was convicted of indecent liberties based upon a game that he played with other boys in which they would grab at or slap adult women in parking lots. 6/18/12 RP 105-06. Mr. Rude also was convicted in connection with sexually obscene prank phone calls he made with other boys. 6/18/12 RP 109; 6/21/12 RP 34. A year later, in 1981, Mr. Rude was prosecuted for rape, based on an offense committed with another man while both were high on amphetamines. 6/18/12 RP 113. Mr. Rude pled guilty to rape in the second degree based on this conduct. 6/18/12 RP 115.

Mr. Rude was referred to the sexual psychopathy treatment program at Western State Hospital ("WSH"). While he was out of custody on his own recognizance pending admission to the program, he started drinking heavily again. 6/18/12 RP 11. He committed another

¹ The verbatim report of pretrial and trial proceedings was transcribed in multiple volumes and is referenced herein by date followed by page number, e.g., 6/20/12 RP 65.

offense, and pled guilty to attempted rape. 6/18/12 RP 118. Mr. Rude was eighteen years old when he commenced the WSH program.

At WSH, Mr. Rude was accused of fondling and trying to force another young man to orally copulate him. 6/18/12 RP 120. Mr. Rude vehemently denied the allegation, and asserted that instead the complainant, who was gay, had made a sexual advance on Mr. Rude. <u>Id</u>. at 121. Nineteen other men, all participants in the treatment program, grilled Mr. Rude about the allegation for three straight days in a closed room without a therapist present. 6/19/12 RP 90-92. With the exception of one man, all the men questioning Mr. Rude were older than him. 6/19/12 RP 89. Following this intense questioning, Mr. Rude admitted to the assault. 6/18/12 RP 121. This was the only time that Mr. Rude admitted to the allegation; at all other times, Mr. Rude maintained that the complainant was gay and came onto him. 6/19/12 RP 92. Mr. Rude nevertheless was discharged from the program and sent to prison.

Prisons in Washington were more racially divided in the 1980s than they are now. 6/20/12 RP 58, 74. In prison, Mr. Rude became affiliated with white supremacist gangs. 6/13/12 RP 14; 6/20/12 RP 74. He continued to abuse drugs, using cocaine while incarcerated. CP 402.² Upon his release, Mr. Rude was still disaffected, estranged from his

² Excerpts of Mr. Rude's deposition testimony were played for the jury but were not transcribed.

family, and addicted to drugs and alcohol. CP 403-04. He obtained a job as a bouncer, which he enjoyed because he could hit people, and could use the job as a cover to sell cocaine and heroin. 6/13/12 RP 20.

In June of 1994, Mr. Rude committed another rape. 6/12/12 RP 68. The crime occurred during the Dirt Cup races at the Skagit Speedway. 6/12/12 RP 71-72. According to the victim, she was at the speedway with a friend, but they became separated. 6/12/12 RP 73. She said Mr. Rude offered to drive her around so she could look for her friend, but that once she got into his pickup truck, he sped out of the parking lot and drove her to a gravel pit. 6/12/12 RP 76. There, he raped her orally, vaginally, and anally, and then offered her a ride home. 6/12/12 RP 77, 80.

Mr. Rude's account of the offense differed from the victim's. He explained that he had previously met the victim and used drugs with her. 6/13/12 RP 24. He said that prior to the rape, they were smoking crack naked together. 6/13/12 RP 24. He was angry because he had engaged in a drugs-for-sex transaction with her, and she did not deliver. 6/13/12 RP 22, 25. He acknowledged that she said "no" to the sex, but he did not stop. 6/13/12 RP 26. He said that he was in a drug and alcohol stupor, and the victim could have been any female. 6/13/12 RP 22. Mr. Rude pled guilty to rape in the second degree in 1995, and was returned to prison. 6/12/12 RP 50.

2. The sea change in Mr. Rude's attitude.

Mr. Rude's initial adjustment in prison was not very good; he returned to his previous prison lifestyle, earning an infraction in 1997 for possession of heroin. Then, as he put it, the "lightbulb clicked on." CP 407. The major catalyst for change was Mr. Rude's newfound religious faith. CP 409-410. Mr. Rude became actively involved in church programs in prison, attending Promise Keepers³ classes on Sundays and taking leadership roles in Kairos, a semi-annual retreat and religious renewal program. 6/20/12 RP 106-110. He became first assistant group director and then group leader of the Kairos program, both positions that carried substantial responsibility. 6/20/12 RP 112-13. He earned the respect, trust, and praise of prison chaplain Henry Fischer, who worked with Mr. Rude for 18 months between 2009 and 2010. 6/20/12 RP 121.

Mr. Rude also entered sex offender treatment with treatment provider Shandra Carter. 6/13/12 RP 7, 13. While in treatment, Mr. Rude attended two-hour group sessions four times weekly, and individual sessions twice a month. 6/13/12 RP 38-39. Ms. Carter believed that Mr. Rude was sincere in his engagement with treatment and stated that he made significant progress. 6/13/12 RP 22, 40. He opened up about his past offending behavior and gained insight into the causes. 6/13/12 RP 49.

³ Promise Keepers was described at the commitment trial as a nationwide men's oriented Christian program. 6/20/12 RP 115.

He acknowledged that his previous attitude regarding women was one of entitlement – that he was entitled to sex from women – and that these beliefs were oppressive. 6/13/12 RP 52.

Ms. Carter opined that in the time leading up to his offenses, Mr. Rude's lifestyle was chaotic. 6/13/12 RP 52. Mr. Rude engaged in violence, drug use, and thrill-seeking behavior. <u>Id</u>. While he was involved in church activities, he met and fell in love with a volunteer, Michelle, and they were married. 6/20/12 RP 117-18. Aware of Mr. Rude's prior convictions, Michelle was nevertheless supportive of Mr. Rude and of his progress through sex offender treatment. 6/13/12 RP 42; 6/20/12 RP 119-120, 137.

Heather Rude, Mr. Rude's daughter from a previous marriage, was also supportive of her father. 6/20/12 RP 132. She learned of Mr. Rude's three rape convictions from her mother when she was twelve or thirteen. 6/20/12 RP 131. She nevertheless reconnected with him when she was eighteen, in response to his efforts to reach out to her. 6/20/12 RP 134-35. Over the next seven years,⁴ Ms. Rude became very close to her father, to the point where she considered him her "best friend." 6/20/12 RP 134. She went to visit him as frequently as she was able, bringing her young son with her. 6/20/12 RP 135. She said that he had "changed so much,"

⁴ Ms. Rude was 25 when she testified at the commitment trial. 6/20/12 RP 135.

showing newfound sensitivity to the feelings of others, and empathy for his victims and the effect his crimes had on them. 6/20/12 RP 132. He served as a mentor for Ms. Rude's six-and-a-half-year-old son, talking to him and counseling him when he misbehaved. 6/20/12 RP 135.

Ms. Rude offered herself as a housing resource for her father, indicating that she had saved money so that she could obtain an apartment in an area where he would be permitted to live. 6/20/12 RP 135. Mr. Rude would have two years of community supervision upon his release, and, although not obligated by his judgment and sentence to engage in sex offender treatment, would be eligible to enter Phase Three outpatient treatment. 6/22/12 RP 7-8.

3. <u>The State's petition to involuntarily commit Mr. Rude as a</u> sexually violent predator.

In August 2008, Mr. Rude's cellmate, John Frost, also a sex offender, reported that Mr. Rude had assaulted him. 6/18/12 RP 14-15. Mr. Frost claimed that they had an altercation in which Mr. Rude ended up shadow-boxing him. 6/18/12 RP 47. According to Mr. Frost, as Mr. Frost tried to push Mr. Rude away, Mr. Rude pulled Mr. Frost onto his bed and shoved his fingers into Mr. Frost's rectum through his shorts. 6/18/12 RP 46-47. Mr. Frost struggled and kicked Mr. Rude's television over, breaking it. 6/18/12 RP 48-49. Mr. Rude then became angry at Mr. Frost and punched him in the face. 6/18/12 RP 49.

Mr. Frost acknowledged that his relationship with Mr. Rude had been deteriorating for some time prior to the alleged assault. 6/18/12 RP 65. Also before the alleged assault, Mr. Frost had submitted a transfer request that was not granted. 6/18/12 RP 66. Mr. Frost admitted that an assault allegation might not persuade prison authorities to approve a transfer, but a sexual assault allegation definitely would. <u>Id</u>. John Padilla, who investigated the incident, concluded that an assault of Mr. Frost's face had occurred, but not a sexual assault, and infracted Mr. Rude on this basis only. 6/18/12 RP 67-68.

On August 12, 2010, the State filed a petition to have Mr. Rude involuntarily committed as a sexually violent predator. CP 1-2. The State's petition was supported largely by the testimony of psychologist Kathleen Longwell. Dr. Longwell made the controversial diagnosis of Paraphilia NOS (nonconsent).⁵ 6/18/12 RP 132, 138. She saw a pattern in the fact that all of Mr. Rude's offenses involved forced sexual activity on non-consenting persons, 6/18/12 RP 143, even while she acknowledged that this is, in fact, the definition of rape. Dr. Longwell also diagnosed

⁵ Dr. Longwell also diagnosed Mr. Rude with Frotteurism and alcohol and cocaine dependence in remission. 6/18/12 RP 138.

Mr. Rude with anti-social personality disorder ("ASPD") and psychopathy. 6/18/12 RP 156, 161-62.

Dr. Longwell testified that she believed Mr. Rude suffered from mental abnormalities which caused significant difficulties in controlling his sexually violent behavior. 6/18/12 RP 169. She stated that her conclusion was based upon Mr. Rude's diagnoses "as a whole," explaining that each diagnosis impaired Mr. Rude's emotional and volitional control, and that they interacted with each other. 6/18/12 RP 171-72.

Dr. Longwell conceded that the editors of the DSM-IV have expressed that the inclusion of the diagnosis of paraphilia NOS in the manual was a mistake. 6/19/12 RP 65. She agreed that the editors rejected the concept of rape as a mental disorder, but that by misreading the poorly-worded paraphilia NOS section of the DSM-IV, practitioners formed the opposite view. <u>Id</u>. at 70. She additionally acknowledged that they believe that the use of the diagnosis in a forensic context is a misuse of psychiatry; in fact, it was never anticipated that the diagnosis would be utilized in court proceedings as a forensic definition to determine the suitability of long-term incarceration. <u>Id</u>. at 68, 71; 6/20/12 RP 37-38.

Using the problematic and poorly-weighted actuarial instruments, the Static 99, SORAG, and SRAFV, Dr. Longwell predicted that Mr. Rude

was in the very high range for sexual recidivism. 6/19/12 RP 14-15, 28-30.

4. Defense expert's opinion.

The defense presented several witnesses to talk about Mr. Rude's personal transformation, including prison chaplain Henri Fischer, two fellow inmates who, over the course of many years of incarceration, witnessed Mr. Rude undergo real, substantive change, and his daughter. The defense also called an expert witness, Dr. Daniel Fisher, a California-based psychologist working with "mentally disordered sex offenders." 6/20/12 RP 151-53.

Dr. Fisher is a sex offender treatment provider, and estimated that at the time of trial he had treated about 200 sex offenders, using a relapse prevention model. 6/20/12 RP 157. According to Dr. Fisher, sex offender treatment has only become effective in the past 15-20 years; the treatment that Mr. Rude received at WSH was likely to have been "pretty typical" of the 1980s, and not effective. 6/20/12 RP 161.

In addition to reviewing many thousands of pages of records, including the records reviewed by Dr. Longwell, Dr. Fisher interviewed Mr. Rude for four hours, and also spoke with his father, wife, and daughter. 6/20/12 RP 165-66. Dr. Fisher stated that Mr. Rude had committed his offenses when he was a younger man, and at the time was a

"real hell-raiser." 6/20/12 RP 166. The claim was that Mr. Rude had changed; Dr. Fisher wanted to verify this. <u>Id</u>.

Dr. Fisher said that the "research is clear" that ASPD and some other personality disorders go into remission and are expressed less and less as people age. 6/20/12 RP 175. Dr. Fisher diagnosed Mr. Rude with ASPD based on his past behaviors, but emphasized that according to the DSM-IV, ASPD remits in the fourth decade of life. 6/20/12 RP 178. He said that had he been basing his diagnosis on the past five to eight years, he would not have diagnosed ASPD. 6/20/12 RP 179.

Dr. Fisher also diagnosed Mr. Rude with alcohol and substance dependence. 6/20/12 RP 186. It was clear, Dr. Fisher testified, that Mr. Rude had been abusing alcohol and substances for a long time, and that both were "common denominators" in his offending behavior. 6/20/12 RP 186-88.

Dr. Fisher also diagnosed Mr. Rude with sexual abuse of an adult. 6/20/12 RP 188. He explained that this is not a mental illness, but rather a reason why a person might go to see a psychologist. 6/20/12 RP 189. Dr. Fisher flatly disagreed with Dr. Longwell's diagnosis of paraphilia NOS (nonconsent). 6/20/12 RP 189; 6/21/12 RP 10. He noted that at the time that the DSM-IV was published, there was a controversy as to whether rape was a paraphilia, with the editors ultimately concluding that it was

not. 6/20/12 RP 191. Dr. Fisher stated that the DSM-V was slated to be released in 2012, however the publication date was delayed due, in part, to an outcry over whether paraphilic coercive disorder should be included as a mental illness.⁶ 6/20/12 RP 192. He described the "NOS" category as a "wastebasket diagnosis", generated primarily for purposes of insurance billing. 6/20/12 RP 190.

Dr. Fisher explained that the focus of the DSM-IV in diagnosing paraphilias used to be upon sexual fantasies or urges. 6/20/12 RP 195. The shift to basing a diagnosis on behaviors alone "blurs the distinction between mental illness and ordinary criminality," Dr. Fisher stated. <u>Id</u>. Dr. Fisher believed that decisions regarding possibly life-long psychiatric commitment should not be based on the misreading of a poorly worded criterion item. <u>Id</u>. In his view, a paraphilia should not be diagnosed without evidence of sexually deviant fantasies or urges. 6/20/12 RP 196.

⁶ Dr. Fisher testified that according to the DSM-V website, paraphilic coercive disorder would be included in the appendix as a condition that requires further research. 6/20/12 RP 193. The website now indicates:

Because the draft diagnostic criteria posted most recently on <u>www.dsm5.org</u> are undergoing revisions and are no longer current, the specific criteria text has been removed from the website to avoid confusion or use of outdated categories and definitions. Changes to disorders and diagnostic criteria, based in part on the latest comments received, will be made through the fall.

Available at http://www.dsm5.org/Pages/Default.aspx, last visited April 11, 2013.

Dr. Fisher described Mr. Rude's offending behavior as "situational and opportunistic," rather than predatory. 6/21/12 RP 16. He saw no evidence that Mr. Rude was having intrusive sexual thoughts that were disturbing to him. <u>Id</u>. Dr. Fisher believed that Mr. Rude initially sought consensual sex with the women he raped. 6/21/12 RP 28. When his victims resisted, Mr. Rude's anger and rage took over, along with his sense of entitlement, and the sex became violent and forceful. <u>Id</u>. at 29. Dr. Fisher stated that the fact that Mr. Rude ejaculated during intercourse was indicative not of arousal to the non-consensual aspect of the sex, but simply of his arousal during the sex act itself. <u>Id</u>. at 30.

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