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

III. ARGUMENT 

A. Rude's Commitment Satisfies Due Process 

Rude argues that his commitment violates due process because it is 

"premised upon diagnoses that are not accepted by the psychiatric 

profession, are overbroad, and insufficiently precise." Appellate Brief 

(hereinafter "App.Br.") at 18. Rude, has long since lost this argument. 

Washington courts have recognized since 1993 Paraphilia NOS: 

Nonconsent as a valid basis for commitment. The diagnosis of Antisocial 

Personality Disorder is likewise well accepted as a valid basis for 

commitment. Rude's arguments fail. 

1. Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified: Nonconsent is a 
Widely Accepted Diagnosis and a Valid Basis for 
Commitment 

Innumerable courts have rejected the argument that Paraphilia 

NOS: Nonconsent is an invalid diagnostic category and, as such, cannot 

form the basis for commitment. The argument was first considered-and 

rejected-by the Washington State Supreme Court in In re Young, 

122 Wn.2d 1, 857 P.2d 989 (1993). The Court, rejecting the argument that 

the diagnosis of Paraphilia NOS is invalid because it is not explicitly 

included in the DSM, observed: 

The fact that pathologically driven rape, for example, is not 
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yet listed in the DSM-III-R does not invalidate such a 
diagnosis. The DSM is, after all, an evolving and imperfect 
document. Nor is it sacrosanct. ... What is critical for our 
purposes is that psychiatric and psychological clinicians 
who testify in good faith as to mental abnormality are able 
to identify sexual pathologies that are as real and 
meaningful as other pathologies already listed in the DSM. 

122 Wn.2d at 28, 857 P.2d 989 (emphasis added) (quoting 

Alexander D. Brooks, The Constitutionality and Morality of Civilly 

Committing Sexually Violent Predators, 15 U. PUGET SOUND L. REV. 

709, 733 (1991-92)). Indeed, since Young, Washington appellate courts 

have upheld numerous commitments based on diagnoses of Paraphilia 

NOS,4 and the diagnosis is widely accepted across the United States. See 

McGee v. Bartow, 593 F.3d 556, 581 n.16 (7th Cir. 2010). 

Rude's argument was most recently rejected by Division I in In re 

Detention of Berry, 160 Wn. App. 374, 379, 248 P.3d 592 (2011), in 

which the court observed that "paraphilia NOS" in fact "does appear in 

the DSM-IV-TR." 160 Wn. App at 38l. Noting that the DSM defines 

paraphilia as a condition characterized by "recurrent, intense sexually 

4 See e.g. In re Detention of Stout, 159 Wn.2d 357,363, 150 P.3d 86, 90 (2007); 
In re Detention of Halgren, 156 Wn.2d 795, 800-01 , 132 P.3d 714 (2006); In re 
Detention of Marshall, 156 Wn.2d 150, 155, 125 P.3d Ill, 113 (2005); In re Detention of 
Campbell, 139 Wn.2d 341, 357, 986 P.2d 771,779 (1999); In re Detention of Paschke, 
136 Wn. App. 517, 520, 150 P .3d 586, 587 (2007); In re Detention of Taylor, 132 Wn. 
App. 827, 832, 134 P.3d 254, 257 (2006); In re Detention of Broten, 130 Wn. App. 326, 
332, 122 P.3d 942, 945 (2005); In re Detention of Skinner, 122 Wn. App. 620, 633, 94 
P.3d 981, 987 (2004); In re Detention of Hoisington, 123 Wn. App. 138, 143,94 P.3d 
318, 320 (2004); In re Detention of Strauss, . 106 Wn. App. 1, 6, 20 P.3d 1022, 
1024 (2001); In re Detention of Mathers, 100 Wn. App. 336, 336, 998 P.2d 336, 
337 (2000); In re Detention of Aqui, 84 Wn. App. 88, 94,929 P.2d 436,441 (1996). 
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arousmg fantasies, sexual urges, or behaviors generally involving 

(1) nonhuman objects, (2) the suffering or humiliation of oneself or one's 

partner, or (3) children or other non-consenting persons that occur over a 

period of at least 6 months," the Berry Court, citing to Young, observed 

that "paraphilia not otherwise specified" is a "residual category ... which 

encompasses both less commonly encountered paraphilias and those not 

yet sufficiently described to merit formal inclusion in the DSM-III-R." 

Id. at 381 (citing to Young, 122 Wn. 2d at 29). The DSM-IV-TR, the 

court noted, provides a number of examples of paraphilia NOS, but 

clearly states that the category is "not limited to" that list.s The omission 

of the term "non-consent" from this list does not prove it is an invalid 

diagnosis. 

Rude suggests that Dr. Longwell's diagnosis runs afoul of Kansas 

v. Crane, 534 U.S. 407,122 S. Ct. 867,151 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2002) because 

it is not "medically recognized" and as such does not "distinguish the 

dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or 

disorder subjects him [or her] to civil commitment from the dangerous 

but typical recidivist in an ordinary criminal case" as required by 

5 DSM at 576 ("This category is included for coding Paraphilias that do not meet 
the criteria for any of the specific categories. Examples include, but are not limited to, 
telephone scatologia (obscene phone calls), necrophilia (corpses), partialism (exclusive 
focus on part of body), zoophilia (animals), coprophilia (feces), klismaphilia (enemas), 
and urophilia (urine)."). 
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, 

Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346, 360, 117 S. Ct. 2072, 

138 L. Ed. 2d 501 (1997). App. Br. at 27-28. A careful reading of both 

Crane and other cases cited in support of this proposition makes clear 

that Dr. Longwell's conclusion that this diagnosis constituted a mental 

abnormality under the law forms, along with her other testimony, a 

sufficient basis for commitment. Neither the United States Supreme 

Court nor the appellate courts of other jurisdictions share Rude's fixation 

on the semantics of particular diagnostic classifications. The Supreme 

Court has, for decades and in a variety of contexts, repeatedly 

acknowledged "the uncertainty of diagnosis in this field and the 

tentativeness of professional judgment" Greenwood v. United States, 

350 U.S. 366, 375, 76 S. Ct. 410,100 L. Ed. 412 (1956). Reported cases, 

the Court has noted, "are replete with evidence of the divergence of 

medical opinion in this vexing area." O'Conner v. Donaldson, 

422 U.S. 563, 579,95 S. Ct. 2486,45 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1975) (C.l. Burger, 

concurring). Psychiatry "is not... an exact science, and psychiatrists 

disagree widely and frequently on what constitutes mental illness, on the 

appropriate diagnosis to be attached to given behavior and symptoms, on 

cure and treatment, and on likelihood of future dangerousness." Ake v. 

Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S. Ct. 1087, 84 L. Ed. 2d 53 (1985). 

Likewise, the Washington State Supreme Court has noted that "the DSM-
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IV -TR candidly acknowledges ... that each category of mental disorder is 

not a completely discrete entity." State v. Klein, 156 Wn.2d 103, 120, 

124 P.3d 644 (2005). For that reason, "the subjective and evolving 

nature of psychology may lead to different diagnoses that are based on 

the very same symptoms, yet differ only in the name attached to it." Id. 

Construing the law to mandate release "based on mere semantics would 

lead to absurd results and risks to the patient and public beyond those 

intended by the legislature." Id., 156 Wn.2d at 121. 

The Court's decision in Crane reflects and is entirely consistent 

with this approach. There, the Court was asked to clarify the "lack of 

control" requirement articulated in Hendricks. Contrary to Rude's 

assertion, there is nothing in Crane that requires that the underlying 

mental abnormality must be "medically recognized." While the Crane 

Court acknowledged "[t]he presence of what the "psychiatric profession 

itself classifie [d] ... as a serious mental disorder" had "helped to make" 

the distinction between those appropriate for civil commitment and the 

"typical recidivist" (Crane, 534 U.S. at 413) in the Hendricks case, 

nowhere did the Court state that such "classification" by the psychiatric 

profession was mandated, nor did it state that, in order to justify 

commitment, the diagnosed condition must be "medically recognized." 

Consistent with its remark in Hendricks that the term "mental illness" 
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was "devoid of any talismanic significance" (Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 358-

59), the Crane Court steered clear of semantic mandates, noting that "the 

Constitution's safeguards of human liberty in the area of mental illness 

and the law are not always best enforced through precise bright-line 

rules." 534 U.S. at 413. The Court went on to observe that "the science 

of psychiatry, which informs but does not control ultimate legal 

determinations, is an ever-advancing science, whose distinctions do not 

seek precisely to mirror those of the law." Id. Noting that it had not, in 

Hendricks, given the phrase "lack of control" "a particularly narrow or 

technical meaning," the Court observed that, "where lack of control is at 

issue, 'inability to control behavior' will not be demonstrable with 

mathematical precision." Id. Rather, 

[i]t is enough to say that there must be proof of serious 
difficulty in controlling behavior. And this, when viewed 
in light of such features of the case as the nature of the 
psychiatric diagnosis, and the severity of the mental 
abnormality itself, must be sufficient to distinguish the 
dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, 
abnormality, or disorder subjects him to civil commitment 
from the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an 
ordinary criminal case. 

Id. Because such a showing was made in Rude's case, his commitment 

comports with due process. 

2. Antisocial Personality Disorder Is a Valid Basis For 
Commitment 

Rude appears to argue that any commitment based entirely or in 
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part on Antisocial Personality Disorder (ASPD) violates due process 

because that diagnosis is "too imprecise" to provide a basis for his 

commitment. App. Br. at 27. This argument, too, must be rejected. 

Rude contends that Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71,112 S. Ct. 

1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1992) "strongly implies" that civil commitment 

cannot be based on ASPD (App. Br. at 27), and that Hendricks and Crane 

suggest this as well. Rude, however, reads these cases far too broadly, and 

fails to point to a single case in which the appellate courts of any state 

have found that this diagnosis is an improper basis for civil commitment. 

Moreover, this argument has repeatedly been rejected by the 

appellate courts, and indeed was rejected in the first case in which the 

constitutionality of the SVP scheme was considered. In Young, appellants 

argued that the SVP scheme ran afoul of Foucha because it permitted the 

civil commitment of someone who has an "antisocial personality." Id., 122 

Wn.2d at 38, n. 12. Rejecting this argument, the Court specifically stated 

that, unlike the "antisocial personality" with which Foucha had been 

diagnosed, "an 'antisocial personality disorder' is a recognized mental 

disorder which is defined in the DSM-III-R.,,6 Id. 

Since Young, numerous courts have rejected challenges to the 

6 The DSM-III-R is the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual III-Revised, a 
compendium of mental disorders published by the America Psychiatric Association. The 
current iteration of this manual is the DSM-IV-R. 
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diagnosis of ASPD as a basis for civil commitment. See, e.g. Adams v. 

Bartow, 330 F.3d 957, 961 (7th Cir. 2003) (Foucha does not preclude civil 

commitments based on a diagnosis of ASPD); Hubbart v. Superior Court, 

19 Cal.4th 1138, 969 P.2d 584, 599 (Cal. 1999). Indeed, the Hubbart 

Court flatly rejected the same argument Rude raises here: 

Nothing in ... Foucha as a whole, purports to limit the 
range of mental impairments that may lead to the 
"permissible" confinement of dangerous and disturbed 
individuals. Nor did Foucha state or imply that antisocial 
personality conditions and past criminal conduct play no 
proper role in the commitment determination. The high 
court concluded only that Foucha's due process rights were 
violated because the State had sought to continue his 
confinement as an insanity acquittee without proving that 
he was either mentally ill or dangerous. 

Id., 969 P.2d at 599 (internal citations omitted; emphasis in original). See 

also In re G.R.H, 711 N.W.2d 587, 595 (N.D. 2006) (under both 

Hendricks and Crane, sufficient evidence in the record established nexus 

between G.R.H. 's ASPD and his difficulty controlling his sexually violent 

behavior); In re Detention of Sease, 149 Wn. App. 66, 201 P.3d 1078, 

1085 (2009) (affirming civil commitment based on diagnoses of ASPD 

and at least one other personality disorder, where each constituted an 

alternative means for establishing a mental disorder); In re Commitment of 

Adams, 588 N.W.2d 336, 341 (Wis.App. 1998); In re Shafer, 171 S.W.3d 

768, 771 (Mo.App. S.D. 2005); Murrell v. State, 215 S.W.3d 96, 108 (Mo. 
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2007); In re Detention oj Barnes, 689 N.W.2d 455, 459-60 (Iowa 2004) 

(concluding that neither Hendricks nor Crane precluded commitments 

based on ASPD). 

While numerous courts have rejected Rude's argument, the most 

thorough treatment of this issue is found in Brown v. Watters, 599 F.3d 

602 (ih Cir. 2010). Brown, like Rude, had been diagnosed with both 

Paraphilia NOS: Nonconsent and an ASPO. 599 F.3d at 611-12. He 

argued, like Rude, that the diagnosis of ASPD is "constitutionally 

insufficient to support civil commitment." Id Citing both Foucha and 

Crane, the court soundly rejected this argument. While acknowledging 

that "the diagnosis of [ASPOl is the subject of some significant 

professional debate," the court stated that "the existence of a professional 

debate about a diagnosis or its use in the civil commitment context does 

not signify its insufficiency for due process purposes, particularly where, 

as here, that debate has been evaluated by the factfinder." Id at 614. The 

court also rejected Brown's argument, identical to that made by Rude, 

that, because a significant percentage of the male prison population is 

diagnosable with ASPO, the diagnosis "does not distinguish a subgroup of 

offenders for whom preventative detention is appropriate." Id at 614. 

Commenting that this argument "misses the mark," the court went on to 

cite to Crane: 
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[T]here must be proof of serious difficulty in controlling 
behavior. And this, when viewed in light of such features of 
the case as the nature of the psychiatric diagnosis, and the 
severity of the mental abnormality itself, must be sufficient 
to distinguish between the dangerous sexual offender 
whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder 
subjects him to civil commitment from the dangerous but 
typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case. 

Id. at 614, citing Crane, 534 U.S. at 413. If, the court continued, "the 

condition of [ASPO] is serious enough to cause an inability to control 

sexually violent behavior, the standards set by the Supreme Court would 

be satisfied." Id., 699 F.3d at 615. 

Rude does not argue that the evidence at trial was insufficient to 

demonstrate this connection between his diagnos[es] and serious 

difficulty controlling behavior, and indeed there was significant 

testimony to that effect. See RP at 142-44; 169; 171-74 (06-18-2012). 

Rude's argument that ASPO is "too imprecise to distinguish the truly 

mentally ill from those who must be dealt with by criminal prosecution 

alone" (App. Br. at 19) must be rejected. 

B. The State's Expert's Testimony At Trial Was Properly 
Admitted 

Rude argues that the trial court violated his rights to due process by 

admitting "unreliable hearsay" regarding Rude's alleged past conduct at 

trial. App. Br. at 32. Rude has not demonstrated that the trial court abused 

its discretion in making it evidentiary rulings, and his effort to 
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"constitutionalize" the trial court's evidentiary rulings fails. 

Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible and all irrelevant 

evidence is inadmissible. ER 402. Relevant evidence is any "evidence 

having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of 

consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less 

probable than it would be without the evidence". ER 401. Even relevant 

evidence will be excluded "if its probative value is substantially 

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice". ER 403. The 

determination of relevance is within the broad discretion of the trial court, 

and will not be disturbed absent manifest abuse of that discretion. State v. 

Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 658, 790 P.2d 610 (1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 

1046, 111 S. Ct. 752, 112 L. Ed. 2d 772 (1991). Discretion is abused 

when based on untenable grounds or in a manifestly unreasonable manner. 

Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co., 123 Wn.2d 93,107, 864 P.2d 937 (1994). 

"An evidentiary error which is not of constitutional magnitude requires

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